2009

Margaret Everson v. Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr.,  
Laurie A. Cooper, and Laurel Ann Cooper, trustee :  
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

Jurisdiction is proper in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code §78A-4-103.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### ISSUE NO. 1

Did the Trial Court Properly Value the House in Determining if it was an Asset under the Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act?

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court will not disturb the trial court's decision unless there was a clear abuse of discretion. Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

### PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE

This issue was preserved in Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Proposed Findings, Defendants' Proposed Findings and Conclusions of Law, (R. 166 – 172).

## DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. §25-6-2(2) (2008)

Utah Code Ann. §78B-5-503(2008)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to find that a transfer made by Mr. Cooper to his wife's trust on November 30, 2005 was fraudulent. Prior to the November 20, 2005, transfer the house was titled to Mr. and Mrs. Cooper as joint tenants. After the transfer, Mr. Cooper was removed from the house. At the time of the transfer the house was encumbered by a valid lien, in the amount of \$124, 279.01. The value of the property at the time of the transfer was \$145,715.00. The homestead exemption, under the Utah Exemptions Act, at the time of the transfer was \$40,000.00. The trial court however, valued the house at \$181,638.00 based on a 2008 value.

### 2. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiff Margaret Everson is an individual resident of Lake County, State of Florida. R 173.

2. Defendant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr. is an individual resident of Washington County, State of Utah. R. 173.

3. Defendant Laurel Ann Cooper is an individual resident of Washington County, State of Utah. R. 173.

4. Plaintiff and Defendant Bobby were previously legally married as husband and wife. R. 174.

5. The Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida, issued a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage, ending the marriage of Plaintiff and Defendant Bobby on June 1, 1989. R. 175; R. 196, p.7.

6. Judge Lawrence J. Semento entered a Final Judgment in this matter on May 13, 2005 for a total amount of \$60,385.76. R. 175.

7. On November 7, 2005, Plaintiff filed a Sworn Application to Register Foreign Final Judgment in the Fifth District Court for the State of Utah in an attempt to collect on the Final Judgment from Florida. This was filed as case #060502273. R. 167.

8. On or about January 29, 2004, Defendant Bobby and Defendant Laurie purchased real property in Washington County, Utah, more specifically, all of lot 26, Building H, Sky Ridge Townhomes (P.U.D.), located at 2576 West 210 North, Hurricane, Utah. Defendant Bobby did not pay any consideration to be put on title and was put on title for the intent of estate planning purposes because he knew that the house was to go to Defendant Laurie's daughter. R.158, Exhibits 1 and 2.

9. Defendant Laurie hired Attorney Steve Harris prior to the filing of the Florida Judgment in Utah to draft her estate plan placing the house in a trust solely for her daughter. R. 158, Exhibit 13.



10. On November 30, 2005, Defendant Bobby and Defendant Laurie transferred the Hurricane property to Defendant Laurie as Trustee of the Laurel Ann Cooper Family Trust. R. 158, Exhibits 3 and 4.

11. At the time of the November 30, 2005, transfer there was a valid lien in the amount of \$124,279.01, encumbering the property. R. 158, Exhibit 11; R. 196, p. 18.

12. At the time of the transfer the fair market value of the property was \$145,715.00 according to the county tax record, R. 158, Exhibit 9; R. 196, p.18; R. 196, p. 19).

13. The Trial Court valued the home at the time of the transfer at \$181,638 using the 2008 Washington County Assessor's estimate value of the home. R. 176; and R. 158, Exhibit 9.

14. The Plaintiff/Appellant testified that she felt the Washington County Assessor's estimate value of the home was at least what was indicated on the tax rolls of Washington County. R. 196, p. 8.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

### Issue No. 1

The Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act defines "Asset" as property of the debtor, but does not include (a) property to the extent it is encumbered by a valid lien; and/or (b)

property to the extent it is generally exempt under nonbankruptcy law. Utah Code §25-6-2(2).

The property is encumbered by a valid lien, in the amount of \$124, 279.01 and under the Utah Exemptions Act, the parties are entitled to a \$40,000.00 homestead exemption in the property. Both parties agreed that the value of the property was in line with the value assessed by Washington County. Washington County Tax Assessor valued the home at \$145,715.00 at the time of the transfer. (R. 158, 9). The Trial Court valued the home at the time of the transfer at \$181,638 using the 2008 Washington County Assessor's estimate value of the home. (R. 176; and R. 158, Exhibit 9). The Trial Court erred in using the 2008 value when the alleged fraudulent transfer took place in November 30, 2005. Based upon this value, the property was not an "Asset" under the Uniform Property Transfer Act. (R. 196, p. 8, 18-19).

## ARGUMENTS

### Issue No. 1

Did the Trial Court Properly Value the House in Determining if it was an Asset under the Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act?

The appellate court will not disturb the trial court's decision unless there was a clear abuse of discretion. Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

The Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act defines “Asset” as property of the debtor, but does not include (a) property to the extent it is encumbered by a valid lien; and/or (b) property to the extent it is generally exempt under nonbankruptcy law. Utah Code §25-6-2(2).

The property was encumbered by a valid lien, in the amount of \$124,279.01 R. 158, Exhibit 11; R. 196, p. 18., and under the Utah Exemptions Act, the parties are entitled to a \$40,000.00 homestead exemption in the property. (Utah Code 78B-5-503). Both parties agreed that the value of the property was in line with the value assessed by Washington County. Washington County Tax Assessor valued the home at \$145,715.00 at the time of the transfer. The Trial Court valued the home at the time of the transfer at \$181,638 using the 2008 Washington County Assessor’s estimate value of the home. The Trial Court erred in using the 2008 value when the alleged fraudulent transfer took place in November 30, 2005. Based upon this value, the property was not an “Asset” under the Uniform Property Transfer Act.