2009

Margaret Everson v. Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr.,
Laurie A. Cooper, and Laurel Ann Cooper, trustee :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code 78A-4-103.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue No. 1: Did the trial court properly consider evidence of the value of the property in determining whether a fraudulent transfer had occurred?

Standard of Review: Defendant did not object to evidence of the value of the house at trial therefore the appellate court will reverse only if the trial court committed plain error. State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346 (Utah 2000).

Issue No. 2: Did the Trial Court Properly Value the house in determining if it was an asset under the Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act?

Standard of Review: The appellate court reviews the trial court's findings of fact for clear error. Bradford v. Bradford, 1999 UT App 373, 993 P.2d 887 (1999).

Standard of Review as stated by the Appellants:

The appellate court will not disturb the trial court's decision unless there was a clear abuse of discretion. Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah 1994).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Annotated §25-6-5 (2008).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Florida judgment was entered against Appellant Mr. Bobby Larry Cooper in favor of Appellee Margaret Everson in the amount of \$60,385.76. This judgment was domesticated in Utah on November 7, 2005. On November 30, 2005, Appellant Cooper fraudulently transferred his interest in the subject property without receiving any compensation. At trial, the Appellants did not provide evidence that a lien encumbered the property on November 30, 2005. Rather, the Appellants provided evidence that the property was encumbered in February 2006, three months after the fraudulent conveyance.

At trial, the Appellants did not object to evidence of the property's value, including the Washington County tax records from 2008. The trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law and ruled that the Appellants had fraudulently conveyed the property. The Appellants have challenged the trial court's use of the 2008 tax record, but have not adequately challenged the trial court's findings, have not marshaled all evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court, and have not

demonstrated that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Margaret Everson, is an individual resident of Lake County, State of Florida. R. 173.

2. Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., is an individual resident of Washington County, State of Utah. R. 173.

3. Appellant, Laurel Ann Cooper is an individual resident of Washington County, State of Utah, and is also the Trustee of the Laurel Ann Cooper Family Trust. R. 173.

4. Margaret Everson and the Appellant Bobby Cooper were previously legally married as husband and wife. R. 174.

5. The Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida, issued a final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage, ending the marriage of the parties on June 1, 1989. R. 175, R. 196 P. 7.

6. As part of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage, Appellant was ordered to pay plaintiff rehabilitative alimony as set forth in the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. R. 175.

7. Appellant Bobby Cooper did not comply with his financial obligations imposed by the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. R. 175.

8. The arrearage issue was litigated in the state of Florida and the Florida court found Appellant Cooper in contempt of Court for his willful disregard and failure to comply with the obligations imposed by the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. R. 158, Exhibit #6.

9. The Florida court entered a Final Judgment in this matter on or about May 13, 2005, in the total sum of \$60,385.76 against Appellant Bobby Cooper. R. 158, Exhibit #5.

10. The Florida Judgment was entered as a Foreign Judgment in the State of Utah on November 7, 2005, in the Fifth District Court of Washington County, Case No. 056502368. R. 167.

11. Appellant Bobby Cooper did not contest the filing of the foreign judgment in the State of Utah in November of 2005 nor any time since then. R. 196, P. 11.

12. Appellant Bobby Cooper did participate in the Florida proceedings which led to the entry of the Final Judgment against him. R. 158, Exhibit #8.

13. Since entry of the monetary judgments against Appellant Bobby Cooper, he has not paid plaintiff any sums of money towards the outstanding judgments and sums that he owes the plaintiff. R. 196, P. 7.

14. On or about January 29, 2004, Appellants purchased real property in Washington County, Utah, more specifically described as:

All of Lot Twenty-Six (26), Building H. SKY RIDGE TOWNHOMES (P.U.D.), according to the Official Plat thereof, on file in the Office of the Recorder of Washington County, State of Utah.

TOGETHER WITH all improvements and appurtenances thereunto belonging.

SUBJECT TO encumbrances, easements, rights of way, restrictions, and reservations of record and those enforceable in law and equity.

PARCEL #: H-SRTH-H-26-RD. R. 158, Exhibit 1.

15. The Appellants Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr.'s and Laurie A. Cooper's interest in the property was memorialized in the Warranty Deed and they took as husband and wife and as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. R. 158, Exhibit 1.

16. The individual Appellants held title to the Washington County property from January 2004 through the end of November 2005. R. 158, Exhibits 1 and 2.

17. On November 30, 2005, the individual Appellants executed a Quit Claim Deed quit claiming their interest in the subject property from themselves to the defendant Laurel Ann Cooper as Trustee of the Laurel Ann Cooper Family Trust dated November 23, 2005 R. 158, Exhibit #2.

18. The Appellant Laurel Ann Cooper then executed two other deeds conveying the same property, one to herself and one to herself as Trustee of the family trust. R. 158. Exhibits 3 and 4, respectively.

19. Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., had no other appreciable assets with an appreciable value after his deed of the subject real estate on November 30, 2005. R. 196, P. 24.

20. The only asset the Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., indicated that he owned was a half-share of water in a water company in Utah County which had an estimated value of less than \$2000-\$3000. R. 196, P. 24.

21. Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., did not receive any consideration from any individual, including Appellant Laurel Ann Cooper, when he conveyed the subject real estate out of his name and into Laurel Ann Cooper's name as Trustee of her family trust in November of 2005, and the other Appellants did not pay any consideration for the transfer of the property out of Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr.'s name. R. 196, P. 24.

22. Appellant Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., appeared in the foreign judgment matter for a motion and order in supplemental proceedings. Said Supplemental Order Proceedings were held on or about August 7, 2006. R. 158, Exhibit 7.

23. At the motion and order in supplemental proceedings, the Appellant, Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., filled out a questionnaire wherein he indicated that he was paying monthly rent of \$700 per month; had monthly income of \$1508 per month; and did not own any other assets other than \$45 in cash and a balance in his checking account of \$675. R. 158, Exhibit 7.

24. Appellants Bobby Larry Cooper, Sr., and Laurel Cooper maintained a joint checking account into which all of his social security check was deposited, and he used at least \$700 of that towards household expenses, and most likely, for house payments, as indicated in his sworn testimony at the Supplemental Proceedings hearing in August of 2006. R. 196, PP. 24-25.

25. The Appellants introduced evidence at trial of the value of the real estate including the Washington County Tax Records. R. 196, P. 5. R. 158, Exhibit #9.

26. The real estate has an estimated value of at least \$181,638. R. 158, Exhibit #9.

27. The Appellant Laurel Cooper incurred a mortgage on the property in 2006. R. 196, P. 6, R. 158, Exhibit #11.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellants introduced Washington County Tax records from 2004 through 2008 into evidence at trial to show the value of the subject

property. The Appellants never objected to the introduction of this evidence as proof of the property's value. The Appellants provided no other evidence of the property's value. Because the Appellants did not object to the 2008 tax records they must show plain error, i.e. that an error exists, that it should have been obvious to the trial court, and the error is harmful. The Appellants have not, and cannot, show plain error.

The Appellants cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion in valuing the property because they did not object to the evidence of value at trial, did not introduce evidence that the property was encumbered by a valid lien in November 2005, have not cited any authority that would indicate that the trial court abused its discretion in valuing the property, have not adequately challenged the trial courts findings of fact, and have not argued how the trial court's value of the property had any affect on its conclusions of law.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1

Did the trial court properly consider evidence of the value of the house in determining whether a fraudulent transfer had occurred?

The Appellants did not object to evidence of the value of the house at trial therefore the appellate court will reverse only if the trial court

committed plain error. State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346 (Utah 2000).

The Appellants introduced evidence of the tax assessed value of the property at trial including the Washington County tax records from 2004 to 2008. The Appellants did not object to the introduction of any of these values. The Appellants did not introduce any evidence of the fair market value of the home, any appraisal, or any other evidence or argument in support of their position that the court improperly valued the home. The Appellants did not properly preserve the issue of value below and it is reviewed for plain error.

A party must object to the admission of evidence at trial to preserve the issue for appeal. State v. Cram, 2002 UT 37, ¶ 9, 46 P.3d 230 (Utah 2002); Clayton v. Ford Motor Co., 2009 UT App 154, 214 P.3d 865 (Utah 2009).

[T]o establish the existence of plain error and to obtain appellate relief from an alleged error that was not properly objected to, the appellant must show the following: (i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant, or phrased differently, our confidence in the verdict is undermined.

State v. Dunn, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993).

Here, the Appellants have alleged an error, but have not cited any authority to support that allegation. The Appellants have not alleged that the error was or should have been obvious to the court. The Appellants have not set forth any facts or arguments that absent the alleged error there is a likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the Appellants.

In Hill v. Estate of Allred, the Supreme Court of Utah engaged in a plain error analysis that is illustrative. 2009 UT 28, 216 P.3d 929 (Utah 2009). There the appellant alleged plain error because the trial court did not apportion joint and several liability in a civil conspiracy case. The Hill appellant alleged that Utah case law was directly on point regarding liability for civil conspiracy. The Supreme Court of Utah explained that Jedrziwski v. Smith, 2005 UT 85, ¶ 10, 128 P.3d 1146 (Utah 2005), the precedent setting case, made clear that an error occurred in Ms. Hill's case and that liability for civil conspiracy should have been joint and several. The Supreme Court, however, ruled that though Jedrziwski was on point, another case had somewhat confused the issue of joint and several liability and therefore the trial court's error was not obvious.

Here, the Appellants cannot point this Court to any authority that would make the trial court's valuation of the property erroneous. Further, even assuming error, the Appellants have not alleged that the error was

obvious. Therefore, the trial court did not commit plain error, its ruling should be affirmed, and the Appellants appeal should be dismissed.

Issue No. 2

Did the Trial Court Properly Value the house in determining if it was an asset under the Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act?

“The appellate court reviews the trial court's findings of fact for clear error.” Bradford v. Bradford, 1999 UT App 373, 993 P.2d 887 (1999). In reviewing for clear error, the appellate court only reverses when the finding is against the clear weight of the evidence, or if the Court otherwise reaches a firm conviction that a mistake has been made,” Cowley v. Porter, 2005 UT App 518, ¶ 42, 127 P.3d 1224 (2005).

In Bradford the appellate court was asked to determine whether a fraudulent transfer occurred. The court explained the applicable standard as follows:

First, did Mrs. Bradford's conveyance of her joint tenancy interest in the home constitute a fraudulent transfer? Because this issue involves both questions of law and of fact, we review the trial court's findings of fact for clear error. See Jeffs v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234, 1244 (Utah 1998). "In contrast, we review a trial court's conclusions as to the legal effect of a given set of found facts for correctness." Id. (citing State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994)). Nevertheless, "[w]e may still grant the trial court discretion in its application of the law to a given fact situation." Id.

Bradford v. Bradford, 1999 UT App 373, P10, 993 P.2d 887, 889 (1999).

The Appellants introduced the very evidence that they now contend should not have been used by the trial court in valuing the home. In their brief the Appellants assert that “both parties agreed that the value of the property was in line with the [2005] value assessed by Washington County.” The Appellants provide no support for this contention and there is nothing in the record indicating any such agreement. The Appellants did not offer any other evidence of the fair market value of the home.

The Appellants’ reasoning that the home was not an asset because it was encumbered by a lien is contrary to the evidence that Appellants introduced at trial. Trial Exhibit #9 indicated that the Appellant Ms. Cooper incurred a mortgage on the home in February 2006, over two months after Ms. Everson domesticated her judgment in Utah.

The Appellants have apparently challenged paragraph 30 of the trial court’s findings wherein the trial court stated “In 2008, the Washington County Assessor’s estimate of the market value of the Cooper home was \$181,638.00.” R. 176. The trial court never stated that it was valuing the home at \$181,638; merely that amount was introduced at trial. Moreover, Appellant has not argued that the trial court had to make a specific finding as to the value of the home, had to determined if the property was encumbered by a lien, or was required to value the property or explain how it came to the

conclusion concerning value. The Appellants did not address these issues at trial or in its opening brief and has not pointed to any authority to challenge the trial court's findings.

In Saunders v. Sharp, the Supreme Court of Utah ruled that:

An appellate court does not lightly disturb the verdict of a jury nor the findings of fact made by a trial court. If a challenge is made to the findings, an appellant must marshal all evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact. If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case.

Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991).

Here, the Appellants have not marshaled any facts as found by the trial court, except to say that there are no facts to marshal. The Appellants have not viewed the evidence they themselves presented at trial concerning value in a light most favorable to the trial court's decision. The Appellants have not demonstrated that those facts are insufficient to support the findings of fact. Therefore, this Court must assume that the record supports the findings of the trial court.

Given that the findings are accurate, the Appellants have in no way shown that they are clearly erroneous or that the trial court improperly

applied the Fraudulent Transfer Act. The Appellants have not and cannot argue that the trial court misapplied the Fraudulent Transfer Act because the trial court applied all the elements of Utah Code Annotated § 25-6-5 and specifically concluded that the property was the Appellant Bobby Cooper's only substantial asset, based on the findings and ruled that the Appellants had fraudulently transferred the property based, again, on the findings. Utah Code Annotated § 25-6-5.

The Appellants' cited standard of review also indicates that the trial court has broad discretion in rulings concerning property division and an appellate court will only disturb the trial court's ruling if there is a clear abuse of discretion. Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah 1994). The Appellants have not cited any authority, including the statute itself, indicating that the trial court must place a value on the home to determine if it was fraudulently transferred. Utah Code Annotated § 25-6-5. The Appellants have not cited any authority regarding how the trial court should have valued the home. The Appellants have not cited any authority to show that the court must explain how it valued the home. The Appellants have not cited any authority to show that the Court has to consider the value of the home in making its conclusions. The Appellants have not cited any

authority to support their contention that it is an abuse of discretion to look at tax rolls over a period of time to determine value of property.

The Appellants have cited the definition of asset under the Fraudulent Transfer Act, but have not explained or even attempted to explain if or how the valuation of an asset affects whether the Act has been violated. Indeed, it is completely plausible that the tax assessed value underestimated the actual fair market value and the trial court weighed the housing market in Washington County, evidence of how much the Appellants paid for the home originally, and other evidence introduced at trial in making its conclusions. The Appellants did not ask for any clarification at trial or thereafter, did not raise any of the above mention issues or object at trial or thereafter or in their opening brief, and cannot show any abuse of discretion by the trial court.

The only case cited by the Appellants supports the fact that the trial court did not abuse its discretion: "There is no fixed formula upon which to determine a division of properties in a divorce action[;] the trial court has considerable latitude in adjusting financial and property interests, and its actions are entitled to a presumption of validity." Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah 1994). Therefore, the trial court properly valued the home and correctly concluded that the Appellants violated the fraudulent

transfer act. The Appellants have not shown clear error nor have they shown an abuse of discretion.

CONCLUSION

The Appellants did not object the Washington County Assessor's 2008 value of the property and in fact introduced that evidence at trial. The Appellants have not shown that the Trial Court committed plain error in citing this value in its findings of fact. The Appellants have not even attempted a plain error or a clear error analysis. The Appellants have not cited any authority to show that the Trial Court improperly consider the 2008 value. The Appellants have not adequately challenged the trial courts findings.